
1. Description of Terms 

Anaerobic Digestion 
Anaerobic digestion means the biological decomposition and stabilisation of organic substrates in 

the absence of oxygen and under controlled conditions in order to produce biogas and a 

digestate. It results, either directly or after subsequent aerobic treatment, in a final product that 

has been sanitised and stabilised, is high in humic substances and can be used as a soil 

improver, as an ingredient in growing media, or blended to produce a top soil that will meet 

British Standard BS 3882, incorporating amendment No 1. 

Biodegradable waste 
Any waste that is capable of undergoing anaerobic or aerobic decomposition, such as food, 

garden waste, paper and cardboard. 

Bottom Ash 
Incombustible material discharged from the bottom of an incinerator grate. Characterised as a 

mix of slag, ferrous and non-ferrous metals, ceramics, glass, minerals and other materials. 

Bric a Brac 
Miscellaneous small items that might be found for example at a jumble sale. 

Bring Recycling Schemes 
Facilities where members of the public can bring dry recyclable materials (for example paper, 

glass, cans textiles, shoes etc) at supermarkets or other locations, but not civic amenity 

sites.Bring Sites may be co-located and provided by a WCA at CA site run by a WDA – in which 

case the WCA should include tonnages but WDA not. 

Capture Rate 
For kerbside recycling of dry recyclables this means: the proportion of a particular material that 

has been recycled (i.e. diverted away from disposal routes) as a direct result of the introduction 

of a collection scheme, in a particular area. It is a measure of the efficiency with which 

householders separate recyclable materials from their waste. In other words, the percentage of 

the available material in the waste that people participating in a recycling scheme separate for 

kerbside collection. For example if there is 10Kg of paper in the waste stream and 5Kg are 

separated for recycling, this represented a 50% capture rate. 

Civic Amenity Site (CA Site) 
Sites provided by local authorities for the disposal of excess household and garden waste free of 

charge, as required by Section 51(1)(b) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990/ Refuse 

Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 / Pollution Control and Local Government (Northern Ireland) Order 

1978. Although these sites were originally established to provide householders with a means of 

disposing of bulky household wastes and garden waste, in recent years CA Sites have received 

significant quantities of recyclables. In non-unitary areas, it is usually the Waste Disposal 

Authority that is responsible for operating CA Sites. 
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Clinical Waste 

(a) any waste which consists wholly or partly of human or animal tissue, blood or other

body fluids, excretions, drugs or other pharmaceutical products, swabs or dressings, or 

syringes, needles or other sharp instruments, being waste which unless rendered safe 

may prove hazardous to any person coming into contact with it; and 

(b) any other waste arising from medical, nursing, dental, veterinary, pharmaceutical or 

similar practice, investigation, treatment, care, teaching or research, or the collection of 

blood for transfusion, being waste which may cause infection to any person coming into 

contact with it; 

Dog faeces are not considered to be clinical waste. 

Co-mingled materials 

‘Co-mingled materials’ are wastes collected in a mixed form (for example a kerbside 

recycling box in which householders put glass, cans, plastics, paper and batteries) that 

are destined for recycling after further sorting. See section 3.8.4 for further guidance. 

Commercial Waste 

Is from premises used wholly or mainly for the purposes of a trade or business or the 

purposes of sport, recreation or entertainment, excluding household waste, industrial 

waste, waste from any mine or quarry and waste from premises used for agriculture. 

Composted/Composting 

The controlled biological decomposition and stabilisation of organic materials (such as 

garden and kitchen wastes), under conditions that are predominantly aerobic (oxygen 

present) and that allow the development of thermophilic temperatures as a result of 

biologically produced heat. It results in a final product that has been sanitised and 

stabilised, is high in humic substances and can be used as a soil improver, as an 

ingredient in growing media, or blended to produce a top soil that will meet British 

Standard BS 3882, incorporating amendment No 1. In the case of vermicomposting these 

thermophilic temperatures can be foregone at the point the worms are introduced. 

Construction & Demolition Waste 

All waste from the construction, repair, maintenance and demolition of buildings or 

preparatory works thereto. 

Conversion factor for Oil 

1000 litres of oil = 0.9 tonnes. 

Green/Organic Waste 

Biodegradable material such as garden and kitchen waste. This may also include other 

compostables such as cardboard if collected as part of a composting collection scheme. 
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Gully Emptyings 

Waste washed from drainage channels (including gutters) down the drains into pots underground 

which are emptied at regular intervals by a tanker. Gully waste typically comprises of; leaves, 

detritus, road chippings, mud, soil, paper and litter and used engine oil. 

 

Note that ‘gully emptyings’ for Qu23 are classified as household.  The tonnage entered here should 

therefore only include waste from gullies collected under section 89(2) of the Environmental Protection 

Act 1990.  Any gully waste collected under the Highways Act should be reported as “Highways Waste” 

in Qu23 as this is not household waste under the CLG guidance.
 
Highways Waste 

Waste from the repair or maintenance of highways. 

Home Composting 

The aerobic degradation of biodegradable components of the household waste stream (usually 

garden waste such as grass cuttings, prunings etc and some kitchen wastes) at the site where it 

is produced using a purpose designed container (either a composter, digester, combination of 

both, or a wormery) or a traditional compost heap. 

Household Clinical Waste 

Waste arising within the household waste stream that falls within the definition of clinical waste 

under The Controlled Waste Regulations 1992/The Controlled Waste Regulations (Northern 

Ireland) 2002 para.2. 

Household Hazardous Waste 

Waste arising within the household waste stream that is classified as Hazardous under EC

Directive 91/689/EEC (7).

Examples of Household Hazardous Wastes include:

Asbestos waste, batteries, fluorescent light tubes, garden and household chemicals, medicines,

oils, paints, glues and varnishes, paint thinners and removers, refrigeration equipment and smoke

detectors.

Household Waste 

This includes waste from household collection rounds (waste within Schedule 1 of the Controlled 

Waste Regulations 1992/ Controlled Waste Regulations Northern Ireland 2002), waste from 

services such as street sweeping, bulky household waste collection, hazardous household waste 

collection, litter collections, household clinical waste collection and separate garden waste 

collection (waste within Schedule 2 of the Controlled Waste Regulations 1992/ Controlled Waste 

Regulations Northern Ireland 2002), waste from civic amenity sites and wastes separately 

collected for recycling or composting through bring/drop off schemes, kerbside schemes and at 

CA Sites. Beach cleansing waste, rubble, abandoned vehicles and waste resulting from the 

clearance of fly-tipped materials are not included. 

When Local Authorities jointly collect household and commercial waste, the amount of each type 

of waste should be estimated, as far as possible this should be based on a documented 

survey/study. 
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Incineration / Energy From Waste (EfW) 

Thermal treatment of waste in an incineration plant as defined in Article 3 (4) of Directive 

2000/76/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 December 2000 on the 

incineration of waste. EfW – the controlled combustion of waste in which heat, power and 

other energy are recovered. 

Inert Landfill 

Use definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Waste Acceptance Criteria) of the Landfill (England 

and Wales) Regulations 2002 and Amendment Regulations 2004 and the Landfill 

Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2003 and the Landfill (Amendment) Regulations (Northern 

Ireland) 2004. 

In-Vessel Composting 

The composting of biodegradable material in a closed reactor where the composting 

process is accelerated by optimising air exchange, water content and temperature control. 

Joint Venture 

A partnership, involving a local authority (or authorities) and a private or community 

sector organisation. 

Kerbside Scheme 

Any regular collections of reusables/recyclables/compostables/residuals from premises, 

including collections from commercial or industrial premises as well as from households. 

Excludes services delivered on demand. 

Palladins for blocks of flats may be included as long as the recycling bins are provided 

specifically for that block of flats in the same way, or similar way, to how residual 

household waste collection more generally would be provided for that block. 

Landfill / Landfilled 

A waste disposal site for the deposit of waste onto or into land in accordance with the 

definitions contained within the relevant national legislation and guidance implementing 

the Landfill of Waste Directive (1999/31/EC). 

Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) 

Mechanical Biological Treatment is the term used to describe a series of processes that 

extract value from the residual waste stream and stabilise the biodegradable fraction. 

Mixed Hereditament 

A premise which is used partly for the purposes of a dwelling and partly for a commercial 

(or other) business (for example a flat situated above a shop or restaurant). 
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Municipal Parks/Grounds waste 

Waste arising from parks, gardens and cemeteries under the ownership of a Local Authority. 

MRF 

Materials Recycling Facility, used to sort municipal waste and separate out recyclable fractions 

for subsequent reprocessing. Recyclables are segregated by means of manual sorting on 

conveyor belts and mechanical processes. 

Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) 

Municipal Waste includes all waste in the possession or under the control of waste collection or 

disposal authorities or agents acting on their behalf. Further clarification can be found on the 

WasteDataFlow website and on the relevant government sites (September 2005). 

In general it includes waste arising from: waste collection rounds (including separate rounds for 

collection for recyclables); street cleansing and litter collection; beach cleansing; bulky waste 

collections; hazardous household waste collections; household clinical waste collections; garden 

waste collections; drop-off/bring systems; weekend skip services; any other household waste 

collected by the authority; rubble; clearance of fly-tipped waste; and commercial waste from shops 

and trading estates where local authority waste collection agreements are in place. In Northern 

Ireland private waste (e.g. commercial waste) brought to a landfill site under the control of the local 

authority is not classified as MSW. 

Municipal waste includes wastes collected by third parties for which recycling payments are made 

or wastes collected by third parties for which there are other formal arrangements with the local 

authority. It also includes wastes collected by local authorities, where they are acting as 

subcontractors. 

Items collected from households or commercial premises by local authorities or their agents (where 

there is a formal agreement between them) for re-use, may be reported as being municipal waste. 

Non Hazardous Landfill 

Use definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Waste Acceptance Criteria) of the Landfill (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2002 and Amendment Regulations 2004 and the Landfill Regulations (Northern 

Ireland) 2003 and the Landfill (Amendment) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2004. 

Non Household Waste 

Includes wastes collected by a local authority from non-household sources (i.e. not covered by 

Schedules 1 and 2 of the Controlled Waste Regulations 1992/ Controlled Waste Regulations 

Northern Ireland 2002). 

Other Household Sources 

Schedule 2 wastes under the Controlled Waste Regulations 1992, those from household sources 

not collected as part of the ordinary waste collection round service. 

Examples of other sources of household waste include: litter collections and Bulky Household 

Waste collections. 
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Participation Rate 
The Participation Rate measures which households are making material available for collection.

However, not all households that are participating are likely do so every week, it is
therefore necessary to measure which households are using the service over at least four
weeks or at least two collection cycles.

For example:
- A collection that occurs once every week: the number of households participating in
the scheme every four weeks should be measured;
- A collection that occurs once every two weeks: the number of households
participating in the scheme every four weeks should be measured;
- A collection that occurs every three weeks: the number of households participating
in the scheme every six weeks should be measured;
- A collection that occurs every four weeks: the number of households participating in
the scheme every eight weeks should be measured.

Percentage weighed 

We appreciate that in providing tonnage information for WasteDataFlow, not all of it will 

necessarily be weighed; so that tonnages will be estimated by weighing a proportion of the 

total tonnage. 

The percentage weighed is: 

Measured Tonnage 

Estimated Total Tonnage x 100 

Quantity collected for recycling AND Quantity collected 

for recycling but actually rejected/disposed 

Inevitably when materials are collected for recycling some material is not suitable and is 

rejected and/or disposed. This may be because of contaminants in the materials or a 

decline in the market for the recyclates. Hence not all material collected for recycling is 

actually recycled. The diagram below shows this process: 

The shaded quantities are requested in various parts of WasteDataFlow. 

Material collected 

and/or disposed 

Material collected for recyling 

for recycling but 
actual rejected Material recycled 
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Quantity collected for reuse AND Quantity collected for 

reuse but actually rejected/disposed 

As with recycling (above) some material collected for reuse is not suitable and is rejected and/or 

disposed. The diagram below shows this process: 

The shaded quantities are requested in various parts of WasteDataFlow. 

Material collected 

disposed 

Material collected for reuse 

for reuse but actual 
rejected and/or Material reused 

RDF Combustion 

The combustible fraction of municipal waste can be mechanically and or thermally 

separated into a product called Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF). This may be pelletised or 

utilised as a loose flock product in a controlled combustion process (either a dedicated 

incineration / gasification process or co-combusted in an industrial type application, for 

example a cement kiln or power station). 

Recovery 

Generating value from wastes from a wide variety of activities such as recycling, 

composting and energy recovery. 

Recycling/Recycled 

“Recycled" means materials which have been collected and separated with subsequent 

reprocessing to produce marketable products. Recycling differs from product re-use because 

of the need to reprocess the material and it is often subsequently manufactured into a 

different product, for example Polyethylene plastic bottles can be reprocessed into fleeces. 

Residual Waste 

Waste not collected for recycling or re-use. 
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Reuse/Reused 

Re-use means the use of household waste for its original or a different purpose without 

processing or treatment in a waste recovery operation other than one which has the 

purpose of repairing or refurbishing the household waste. 

Rubble 

Inert construction and demolition waste, generally from DIY activities. 

Street Cleaning Waste 

Includes waste collected by litter pickers, street sweeper & mechanical sweepers, but 

excludes gully emptying waste and poop-scoop wastes. 

Street Recycling Bins 

Litter bins for recycling located on streets; but not at CA Sites or Bring Sites. 

Waste Transfer Station 

A site to which waste is delivered for sorting or compacting/bulking prior to transfer to 

another place for recycling, treatment or disposal. 

White Goods 

Household appliances including fridges, freezers, washing machines, tumble driers and 

dishwashers. 

Windrow/Other Composting 

Means the composting of biodegradable wastes placed in long heaps, often triangular in 

cross section and turned or aerated in order to increase decomposition of the heap and 

increase the uniformity of the waste. 
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3. Links

Audit Commission www.audit-commission.gov.uk/

Audit Scotland www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/

Biffaward www.biffaward.org/

CapitalWasteFacts www.capitalwastefacts.com/

Department of the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) www.defra.gov.uk/

Department of the Environment Northern Ireland (DOENI) www.doeni.gov.uk/

Environment Agency www.environment-agency.gov.uk/

Environment Agency Netregs www.environment-agency.gov.uk/netregs/

Environment and Heritage Service www.ehsni.gov.uk/

Environmental Services Association (ESA) www.esauk.org/

Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government (IDeA) www.idea.gov.uk

Local Authority Recycling Advisory Committee (LARAC) www.larac.org.uk

Local Government Association (LGA) www.lga.gov.uk

National Association of Waste Disposal Officers (NAWDO)

Northern Ireland Local Government Association (NILGA) www.nilga.org/

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister www.odpm.gov.uk

Scottish Environment Protection Agency (SEPA) www.sepa.org.uk

Scottish Executive www.scotland.gov.uk

The Chartered Institution of Wastes Management (CIWM) www.ciwm.co.uk

Waste Resources Action Programme (WRAP) www.wrap.org.uk

Welsh Assembly Government (WAG) www.wales.gov.uk

Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) www.wlga.org

The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) has published audited Best Value Performance Indicators for 

2002/03 for all service areas including environment. The results are available at 

http://www.bvpi.gov.uk/pages/KeyFacts_step1.asp 
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Questions 
4. Summary of Applicable 

The table below summarises the questions in WasteDataFlow by authority type, country and the 

frequency the question is asked. 

Question 
No. 

Frequency Unitary Authority Waste   
Collection 
Authority 

Waste 
Disposal 
Authority 

Northern 
Ireland 

Wales England England England 

1 Prefilled 
2 Prefilled 
3 Annual 
4 Quarterly 
5 Quarterly 
6 Quarterly 
7 Quarterly 
8 Annual 
9 Quarterly 

10 Quarterly 
11 Quarterly 
12 Quarterly 
13 Quarterly 
14 Quarterly 
15 Quarterly 
16 Quarterly 
17 Quarterly 
18 Quarterly 
19 Quarterly 
20 Annual 
21 Quarterly 
22 Annual 
23 Quarterly 
24 Quarterly 
25 Quarterly 
26 Quarterly 
27 
28 Annual 
29 Annual 
30 Annual 
31 Annual 
32 Annual 
33 Quarterly 
34 Quarterly 
35 Quarterly 
51 Quarterly 
52 Quarterly 
53 Quarterly 
54 Quarterly 
55 Quarterly 
56 Quarterly 
57 Quarterly 
58 Quarterly 
59 Quarterly 
60 Quarterly 
61 Quarterly 
62 Quarterly 
63 Quarterly 

101 – 132 Annual 

Key Question applicable Question not applicable 
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5. Question flow diagram 

Version 2.1 04/08


